# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/10/2023 4:52 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No.\_\_102169-1

# THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 843435

Spokane Superior Court No. 17-2-0211716

In re:

PATRICK RYAN FLYNN,

Petitioner,

and

ALEXANDRA LEIGH CARTWRIGHT,

Respondent.

# PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

JULIE C. WATTS/WSBA #43729
Attorney for Petitioner
The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210
Spokane, WA 99201
(509) 207-7615

# I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, PATRICK FLYNN, is the moving party.

# II. DECISION BELOW

#### I. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

After a five-day trial, the superior court entered findings explicitly stating that Mr. Flynn had <u>not</u> engaged in domestic violence or substance abuse as alleged by his former spouse. Later that year, the trial court subsequently adopted a private social worker's findings and recommendations, which determined that Mr. Flynn <u>had</u> engaged in domestic violence and substance abuse. The trial court then entered limitations against Mr. Flynn based on domestic violence and substance abuse and found Mr. Flynn to be in contempt of the parenting plan for failing to comply with the social worker's recommendations (which did not agree with the trial court's prior ruling).

As remedial sanctions for contempt, the trial court totally suspended Mr. Flynn's residential time with his daughter, entered restrictions on his parenting conduct, and awarded thousands of dollars to Ms. Cartwright in attorney's fees.

Mr. Flynn made a motion to vacate the order adopting the social worker's findings and recommendations, and the trial court denied the motion. Mr. Flynn, who has not seen his daughter since December of 2020, appeals the matter to this Court for review.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Error #1: The trial court erred when it entered the Order.

Error #2: The trial court erred when it entered remedial sanctions against Mr. Flynn for failing to comply with the terms of the parenting plan.

Error #3: The trial court erred when it determined that Mr. Flynn had failed to comply with the requirements of the final parenting plan.

- Error #4: The trial court erred when it entered sanctions without having made a specific finding on the record that Mr. Flynn had, by a preponderance of the evidence, acted in bad faith when he failed to comply with the parenting plan.
- Error #5: The trial court abused its discretion when it suspended visitation as a remedial sanction for failure to comply with the parenting plan in violation of the public policy contained in RCW 26.09.160.
- Error #6: The trial court erred when it entered an order modifying the final parenting plan in violation of Washington law.
- Error #7: The trial court erred when it entered an order modifying the final parenting plan without personal jurisdiction over Mr. Flynn for a proceeding to modify the parenting plan.
- Error #8: The trial court erred when it entered an order modifying the parenting plan in violation of procedural statutory requirements.
- Error #9: The trial court erred when it entered the order modifying the parenting plan in violation of substantive statutory requirements.
- Error #10: The trial court erred when it entered the order modifying the parenting plan in violation of Mr. Flynn's right to constitutional due process.
- Error #11 The trial court erred when it denied Mr. Flynn's motion to vacate,
- Error #12: The Order should have been vacated because it was obtained as the result of an irregularity pursuant to CR 60(b)(1).
- Error #13: The Order should have been vacated because it was void for lack of jurisdiction pursuant to CR 60(b)(5).
- Error #14: The Order should have been vacated for "other reasons justifying relief" pursuant to CR 60(b)(11).
- Error #15: The trial court erred when it denied Mr. Flynn's request for attorney's fees.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether the trial court erred when it entered the *Order*.
- 2. Whether the trial court erred when it denied Mr. Flynn's motion to vacate.
- 3. Whether the trial court erred when it denied Mr. Flynn's request for attorney's fees.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Patrick Ryan Flynn and Alexandra Leigh Cartwright were married on September 18, 2010, and the marital community ended seven years later, on April 30, 2017. (CP 10-11.) The parties had one child together, a daughter, who was five (5) years old at the time of trial. (CP 13.)

February 10, 2020: The parties went to trial on the dissolution of their marriage. (CP 10.) At trial, Ms. Cartwright made allegations of domestic violence, stalking, and abusive use of conflict. (CP 14-16.) In support of her claims, Ms. Cartwright brought a domestic violence expert witness, Tracee Parker, who testified that Mr. Flynn had engaged in stalking behaviors, and while she admitted that "there was no physical violence against the Mother in this case," she nevertheless claimed that Mr. Flynn showed "dangerous lethality factors sufficient to constitute domestic violence." *Id.* The trial court had also appointed a parenting evaluator, Monique Brown, who produced a 49-page report, which was admitted at trial. *Id.* 

MARCH 26, 2020: The trial court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law, which included the definition of domestic violence

pursuant to RCW 26.50.10(3) and the definition of stalking pursuant to RCW 9A.46.110. *Id.* After its consideration of Ms. Cartwright's testimony/allegations, the testimony of Tracee Parker, and Monique Brown's report, the trial court entered specific findings that Mr. Flynn had <u>not</u> engaged

in domestic violence or in stalking. Id.

The trial court also entered a final parenting plan, which included limitations on Mr. Flynn based on a finding of abusive use of conflict. (CP 19-20.) The trial court declined to enter RCW 26.09.191(3) findings related to domestic violence, choosing instead to indicate: "Neither parent has any of these problems." *Id.* Similarly, the trial court made no findings in Section 3(b) that either parent had an alcohol or substance abuse problem that interfered with the ability to parent. *Id.* 

Based on its finding that Mr. Flynn had engaged in the abusive use of conflict, the trial court ordered that he "[b]e evaluated for anger management through ACT&T¹ within 60 days entry of the Final Parenting Plan," and indicating that "Father must comply with any treatment as recommended by the evaluation." *Id*. The trial court further stated that "[i]f Father does not complete evaluation and/or treatment recommended, Mother may directly petition the Court, i.e., without mediation, to reduce Father's visitation with the Child." *Id*.

<sup>1</sup> Anger Control Treatment & Therapies.

Amended Opening Brief - Page 4 of 42

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 207-7615 JULY 7, 2020: Mr. Flynn complied with obtaining an anger management

evaluation, which was conducted by ACT&T as directed, and a report was

issued on July 7, 2020. (CP 91-97.) Contrary to the trial court's instructions,

ACT&T evaluated Mr. Flynn not only for anger management, but also for

substance abuse and domestic violence. Id.

ACT&T did not find that Mr. Flynn had an anger management problem,

indicating that his Buss/Durkee Hostility Inventory "did not reveal an overall

propensity for hostility nor did it in any subcategories." Id. The report noted

that anger management addresses impulse control and affect regulation

disorders, and Mr. Flynn "did not reveal any impulse control disorder or any

affect management dysregulation." (CP 95.)

ACT&T also did not find that Mr. Flynn had a substance abuse problem;

his Substance Abuse Subtle Screening (SASSI-3) revealed a low probability of

a substance abuse disorder. Id.

With respect to domestic violence, ACT&T specifically reported that Mr.

Flynn's Propensity for Abuse Scale (PAS) score was 42%, which is considered

well within the normal range. Id. ACT&T reported that scores under 48% are

considered normal, and "high scores correlated with relational abuse" are over

60%. Id. ACT&T also reported that Mr. Flynn had denied ever engaging in

violent, threatening, abusive, or surveillance behaviors. Id.

In arriving at its recommendations, however, ACT&T completely

disregarded its own test data, the information provided by Mr. Flynn, and the

Amended Opening Brief - Page 5 of 42

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210

Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 207-7615

specific findings and conclusions of the trial court. Mr. Waterland, the social worker who conducted the evaluation, chose instead to rely *solely* on the report of Monique Brown even though the trial court had already considered that report and made specific findings that no domestic violence, stalking, or

substance abuse existed.

Mr. Waterland, who appears to have no legal education, is not licensed to practice law, and was never elected to the office of superior court judge for King County, determined that Mr. Flynn "clearly meets" the definition of domestic violence based on (1) his interpretation of the significantly outdated<sup>2</sup> 2006 edition of the "DV Manual for Judges," (2) his informal evaluation of incomplete evidence without any reference to jurisprudential standards of any kind, and (3) his clear misinterpretation of the legal terminology contained in the trial court's ruling, which reflects a mistaken belief that the term "abusive use of conflict" is equivalent to a finding of domestic violence, when, in fact, the trial court made *precisely the opposite finding*.<sup>3</sup>

In his evaluation, ACT&T's social worker purports to *overrule* the King County Superior Court's final orders and *revises* them to make the factual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The most recent edition at the time of trial was the 2016 edition, which is freely available on the internet and easily located via a Google search at:

https://www.courts.wa.gov/index.cfm?fa=home.contentDisplay&location=manuals/dom Viol/index

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "His accountability and readiness to change is low due to his belief that he has never engaged in acts of domestic violence and yet the court found in the Findings and Conclusions about a Marriage, "... The court finds that the Father's actions did constitute abusive use of conflict and orders 192 [sic] limitations as stated in the Parenting Plan. ..." (CP 93.)

finding that, in fact, Mr. Flynn had engaged in the behaviors alleged in

Monique Brown's report, and he arrives at the legal conclusion that those

behaviors qualified as domestic violence as a matter of law (as defined by a

non-authoritative legal "manual" that had been outdated for well over a

decade). Mr. Waterland then subsequently recommends that Mr. Flynn (1)

complete a level 2 DSHS certified domestic violence intervention program that

is a minimum of 39 weekly group sessions, (2) comply with the "provider's

contract," (3) abstain from all mood and mind-altering drugs without a doctor's

prescription, including alcohol and marijuana, for the entire length of

treatment, and (4) enroll in a course entitled "DV Dads," during which he

would be monitored monthly until completion. *Id.* 

The paperwork that is required for Mr. Flynn to enroll in the programs

"recommended" by ACT&T requires him to agree to "end all violence and

abuse," and to "change my behavior," which is identified as "a pattern of

abusive and controlling behaviors." (CP 134-142.) Mr. Flynn would also be

required to sign paperwork acknowledging his obligation to provide individual

and specific examples of his abusive behaviors. Id.

Mr. Flynn did not take any action to comply with ACT&T's domestic

violence recommendations.

NOVEMBER 20, 2020: Ms. Cartwright made a motion to "enforce the

parenting plan" arguing that Mr. Flynn had failed to comply with the

requirements of the parenting plan. (CP 72-75.) Ms. Cartwright asserted that

Amended Opening Brief - Page 7 of 42

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201

(509) 207-7615

Mr. Flynn was required to comply with *any* recommendations made by ACT&T, for any reason. *Id.* Because Mr. Flynn had not "complied" with ACT&T's unlawful domestic violence recommendations, Ms. Cartwright requested the suspension of *all* Mr. Flynn's residential time, the entry of parenting restrictions against him, and an award of attorney's fees. *Id.* 

Ms. Cartwright argued that she was entitled to such relief based on the terms of the parenting plan that she characterized as authorizing her to "move the Court to reduce Mr. Flynn's residential time if he failed to comply with the evaluation and/or recommended treatment." *Id.* (As indicated above, however; this is not what the parenting plan said; it stated that "[i]f Father does not complete evaluation and/or treatment recommended, *Mother may directly petition the Court, i.e. without mediation*, to reduce Father's visitation with the Child.")(Emphasis added.) Ms. Cartwright made the following request to modify the parenting plan:

Ms. Cartwright requests that the court enter an order restricting Mr. Flynn's residential time all together until he has complied with the Amended Parenting Plan by undergoing the treatment recommended by ACT&T, and that his residential time be automatically suspended during any period thereafter that he becomes non-compliant with the treatment program."

Ms. Cartwright sought attorney's fees in the amount of \$4,742.50 for "having to bring this motion to enforce the court-ordered Amended Parenting Plan." (CP 72-75.) She provided no reference to any Washington law that authorized her fee request.

DECEMBER 4, 2020: The trial court held a hearing on Ms. Cartwright's motion. (1 RP 3.) At hearing, counsel for Ms. Cartwright argued that "Ms. Cartwright actually remains terrified that without the treatment intervention that's been recommended that Mr. Flynn will never come to the understanding that it's not appropriate for him to stalk her<sup>4</sup> and drive by her house, to keep notes on her, to use [the child] as a go-between for conflict and so forth." (1 RP 3-4.) Counsel confirmed Ms. Cartwright's request for remedial sanctions, saying: "we're concerned that unless the Court eliminates his visitation altogether until such time that he's provided proof that he's enrolled in and complying with a DV perpetrator treatment program as recommended by ACT&T-1'm paraphrasing what their actual recommendation was – however, we just don't think he's going to have any incentive to do it." (1 RP 5.)

Mr. Flynn, who was unrepresented by counsel, informed the trial court that it was his understanding that he had only been ordered to comply with any recommendations made by ACT&T based on his anger management assessment because the trial court had already clearly ruled that no domestic violence had occurred. (1 RP 9-12.) He noted that two of the six pages comprising ACT&T's report were simply allegations copied and pasted from Monique Brown's report, which the court had evaluated at trial when Monique

<sup>4</sup> Importantly, at trial, the trial court specifically found that Mr. Flynn had *not* engaged in stalking in this case. (CP 14-16.). Not only does Ms. Cartwright's attorney appear to misrepresent that stalking had occurred, but the trial court itself adopts that characterization in its comment that "[t]here was an issue of stalking," which directly contradicts its own findings that no stalking had occurred. (1 RP 3-4, 14.)

Brown had admitted on the stand that she had been unable to corroborate Ms. Cartwright's allegations. *Id.* Mr. Flynn reported that when he spoke to ACT&T, he was told that they had based their recommendation solely on Monique Brown's report and that they would reevaluate their recommendation if he provided them with "all of the information from the trial," but he explained that, because of the pandemic closures, he had not been able to obtain any information about how to obtain that information, 5 and he asked for some direction. (1 RP 15-16.) The trial court indicated that "it's up to you to take whatever action that you need to take and deal with ACT&T." (1 RP 16.)

The trial court concluded: "Well, it says here, quote, Father must comply with any treatment as recommended by the evaluation, so you know, if they recommend domestic treatment, domestic violence treatment, I think, you know, I don't see a question as to why that's not clear." (1 RP 12.) "So, the evaluation I ordered was very specific and that the order was very specific that any treatment that is recommended by the evaluator must be followed, so that I think, you know, there shouldn't be any question about that." (1 RP 15.)

Interestingly, the trial court noted that its decision was "not perfect, I will grant you that," and it confirmed that "I'm not in the business of just

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Mr. Flynn indicated that he had repeatedly contacted the judge's chambers to "get clarification as to your intent whether you meant any treatment recommended by ACT&T or specific to the evaluation that they were conducting," and explained that because all of the family law facilitators were no longer available as a result of the pandemic, he had no access to the resources that had previously permitted him to represent himself in this matter and did not know what else to do. (1 RP 12-18.)

sanctioning people for not complying with my orders," but it asserted that it wanted to see "a father who's willing to, you know, learn from the lessons that he learned." (1 RP 17.)

The trial court entered the Order Enforcing Parenting Plan ("Order") containing the following ruling:

- a. Patrick Flynn must comply with the recommended treatment of 39 weekly group sessions of a level 2 D.S.H.S. certified domestic violence intervention program before he can resume residential time with Winter Flynn. Patrick Flynn must enroll in the treatment program within 30 days of this order and provide proof to mother's counsel.
- b. The treatment program entered into by Mr. Flynn should be with ACT&T as recommended by Dr. Monique Brown in her parenting evaluation report and he shall comply with the ACT&T provider contract.
- c. Mr. Flynn must abstain from all mood and mind-altering drugs without a doctor's prescription including alcohol and marijuana for the entire length of treatment.
- d. Mr. Flynn must enroll and successfully complete DV Dads with Mark Adams LMHC when he successfully completes the weekly group phase of the DSHS certified domestic violence program with ACT&T. Mr. Flynn will then move to monthly monitoring sessions in his DV program, where he shall remain until he successfully completes DV Dads with Mark Adams, LMHC.
- e. Patrick Flynn must pay \$4,105.00 in attorney's fees incurred by Alexandra Cartwright for having to bring this motion to enforce a parenting plan. Fees shall be paid to Luminosity Law PLLC within 60 days of the entry of this order or work out a payment plan w/counsel.

(CP 84-86.)

**DECEMBER 24, 2020:** Mr. Flynn filed a *Notice of Appeal* requesting review of the trial court's *Order*.<sup>6</sup>

MARCH 4, 2021: Mr. Flynn filed a motion to vacate the *Order*. (CP 111-33.) He argued that the order should be vacated because it had been entered as a result of an irregularity pursuant to CR 60(b)(1), because it was void for lack of jurisdiction pursuant to CR 60(b)(5), and because of other reasons justifying relief pursuant to CR 60(b)(11). *Id.* Mr. Flynn also asserted that the trial court's decision to defer its judgment to the discretion of ACT&T's social worker was a violation of his constitutional due process rights. *Id.* 

MARCH 26, 2021: The trial court heard the motion to vacate. (2 RP 24.)

MARCH 31, 2021: The trial court entered an order denying Mr. Flynn's motion to vacate. (CP 405-06.) The order stated:

The court finds good cause to DENY Respondent's motion to vacate the Order Enforcing Parenting Plan dated December 4, 2020.

Specifically, in this Court's March 26, 2020 Final Orders, including a Parenting Plan, and Final Findings and Conclusions the Court found 26.09.191 limitations based on abusive use of conflict against the Respondent/Father. This Court ordered the Father to be evaluated for anger management and that he must comply with any treatment as recommended by the evaluation. The Court did not find that the Father had engaged in domestic violence, however. The parenting plan provided that if the Father does not complete evaluation and/or treatment recommended, the Mother may directly petition the Court to reduce the Father's visitation with the child.

Following this Court's order, ACT&T completed anger management assessment and concluded that the Father had committed DV and recommended that he must undergo DV treatment programs. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Designated in the Second Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers, filed simultaneously with this document.

assessment identified the behavioral definition of DV that differs from RCW 26.50.010(3) and based its findings on (1) finding that the abusive use of conflict identified by the court was a pattern of coercive control over the mother; (2) anger management is not effective for controlling behaviors and as such, anger management would not be an effective treatment.

Although ACT&T's definition is different than the legal definition used by this Court, the Court finds that the treatments ordered by ACT&T are appropriate, the Court dismisses the Father's Motion to vacate this Court's December 4, 2020 Order Enforcing Parenting Plan.

(CP 405-06.)

**APRIL 7, 2021:** Mr. Flynn filed a *Notice of Appeal* seeking this Court's review of the trial court's decision denying his motion to vacate.<sup>7</sup>

**RESIDENTIAL TIME:** Mr. Flynn has not had residential time with his daughter since December 30, 2020, and the trial court made specific inquiry at the March 26 hearing to confirm "that the father is not trying to see the child in the meantime." (CP 134-142; 2 RP 45.)

## V. ARGUMENT

## A. The trial court erred when it entered the Order.

The first issue that must be addressed is to accurately characterize the Order so that the appropriate standards may be applied. Here, this Court has several characterizations to consider.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Designated in the Second Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers, filed simultaneously with this document.

The first option would be to accept the title of the motion, which characterizes it as a decision generally "enforcing" the parenting plan.

The second option is to define the Order more precisely by the specific type of problem it seeks to address and the nature of the requested relief. In her motion, Ms. Cartwright sought to address Mr. Flynn's alleged failure to comply with the parenting plan, and she sought the entry of remedial sanctions against him. Decisions that enter sanctions against a party for failure to comply with a court order are characterized as orders on contempt, and they are governed by specific rules in both statute and case law.

The third option would be to characterize the decision by the action taken by the trial court, which in this case was the modification of the parenting plan, and the entry of an award of attorney's fees to Ms. Cartwright.

The Order is not appropriately characterized as a general order to enforce. The term "order to enforce" is generally used when a court provides relief that directly effectuates an intended outcome, often by bypassing the involvement of a non-compliant party altogether. While an order on contempt is arguably a type of enforcement order, contempt decisions are uniquely governed by precise procedural and substantive rules, so it is not helpful to reference an order on contempt as an "order to enforce." To illustrate the distinction, if one spouse fails to comply with a court's order to sign a real estate deed transferring marital property to the other spouse, the aggrieved spouse has two potential avenues of obtaining relief. She could file a general 'motion to enforce,' which

Amended Opening Brief - Page 14 of 42

might request the appointment of a special master who would be empowered to sign the real estate deed directly or she might ask the trial court to transfer title by court order, thereby bypassing the obstruction of the recalcitrant spouse and directly effectuating the outcome ordered by the court. Alternatively, the aggrieved spouse could also file a specific motion for contempt and request the entry of sanctions against the recalcitrant spouse. Remedial contempt sanctions are designed to compel a party to comply with an order rather than directly effectuating the outcome ordered by the court.

While Ms. Cartwright styled her request as a general request for "enforcement," her motion did not actually seek general enforcement remedies (i.e., direct effectuation of an order); rather it sought specific contempt remedies. It is not appropriate to characterize an order issuing contempt sanctions as a general order of 'enforcement,' because the term is so imprecise as to be misrepresentative; by failing to acknowledge the applicable substantive and procedural rules that govern contempt sanctions, a court is easily invited into reversible error.

The Order is a decision entering sanctions for contempt of court. Contempt includes the "disobedience of any lawful judgment, decree, order, or process of the court." RCW 7.21.010(1)(b). A punitive sanction is imposed to punish a past contempt of court for the purpose of upholding the authority of the court. *In re M.B.*, 101 Wn.App. 425, 438, 3 P.3d (2000); RCW 7.21.010(2). A remedial sanction is imposed for the purpose of coercing performance when

Amended Opening Brief - Page 15 of 42

the contempt consists of failure to perform an act that is yet in the person's power to perform. <u>M.B.</u>, 101 Wn.App. at 438; RCW 7.21.010(3).

Here, Ms. Cartwright alleged that Mr. Flynn had failed to comply with the trial court's order, and based on Mr. Flynn's failure to comply, she sought remedial sanctions in the form of a total suspension of residential time, the entry of parenting restrictions, and an award of attorney's fees, and the trial court granted her motion. Because the Order provided relief in the form of remedial sanctions on the basis that Mr. Flynn had failed to comply with the trial court's order, the Order was an order on contempt.

The Order is a decision modifying the final parenting plan. When the trial court granted Ms. Cartwright's motion, it entered an order that *significantly* modified the final parenting plan (completely suspending Mr. Flynn's residential time with the child and entering parenting restrictions); therefore, the Order was also a decision modifying the final parenting plan.

1. The trial court erred when it entered remedial sanctions against Mr. Flynn for failing to comply with the terms of the final parenting plan.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: The question of whether a court has authority to impose sanctions for contempt is a question of law, which is reviewed de novo. *In re Dependency of A.K.*, 162 Wn.2d 632, 644, 174 P.3d 11 (2007).

Where a court has authority to impose sanctions, contempt rulings are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. <u>Dep't of Ecology v. Tiger Oil Corp.</u>, 166 Wn.App. 720, 768, 271 P.3d 331 (2012). A trial court abuses its discretion if

its contempt decision was manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. Holiday v. City of Moses Lake, 157 Wn.App. 347, 355, 236 P.3d 981 (2010). A contempt ruling based on an erroneous view of the law or an incorrect legal analysis constitutes an abuse of discretion. In re Estates of Smaldino, 151 Wn.App. 356, 364, 212 P.3d 579 (2009). Findings of fact in a contempt order are reviewed for substantial evidence. In re Marriage of Rideout, 150 Wn.2d 337, 351, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003). Substantial evidence exists so long as a rational trier of fact could find the necessary facts were shown by a preponderance of the evidence. In re Welfare of A.W., 182 Wn.2d 689, 711, 344 P.3d 1186 (2015). In determining whether the findings of fact support a conclusion of contempt, this Court strictly construes the order alleged to have been violated, and the facts must constitute a plain violation of the order. In re Marriage of Humphreys, 79 Wn. App. 596, 599, 903 P.2d 1012 (1995).

Contempt includes intentional "[d]isobedience of any lawful judgment, decree, order, or process of the court." RCW 7.21.010(1)(b). If a court finds that a person has failed or refused to perform an act that is within her power to perform, it may find that person in contempt. RCW 7.21.030(2). To avoid being held in contempt for a violation of a parenting plan, a noncomplying parent must establish by a preponderance of the evidence that he lacked the ability to comply or had a reasonable excuse for noncompliance. *Rideout*, 150 Wn.2d at 352-53. A court's order must be clear enough that the contemnor understands what is necessary for compliance. *Tiger Oil*, 166 Wn.App. at 768.

"The interpretation of a parenting plan is a question of law." Kirschenbaum

v. Kirshenbaum, 84 Wn.App. 798, 803, 929 P.2d 1204 (1997). When

determining an order's intended effect, the appellate court's inquiry is normally

limited to the order's provisions. *Id.* 

i. The trial court erred when it determined that Mr. Flynn had failed to

comply with the requirements of the final parenting plan.

In this case, the plain language of the court's order confirms that Mr. Flynn

had no obligation to comply with any recommendations other than those based

on the anger management evaluation; this conclusion is confirmed by

Washington law, which does not support an alternative interpretation.

Domestic Violence. The trial court made explicit findings that no domestic

violence occurred pursuant to RCW 26.09.191(3), and, consistent with those

findings, it did not order Mr. Flynn to be evaluated or treated for domestic

violence. There is no language in the parenting plan that addresses or requires

an evaluation or recommendations for domestic violence; therefore, Mr. Flynn

could not have violated a term that does not exist.

This interpretation complies with Washington law. A court is not

authorized to limit parenting conduct without findings that indicate a

restriction is appropriate pursuant to RCW 26.09.191(3). Limitations include

requiring a parent to obtain an evaluation, get treatment, take a parenting class,

or refrain from certain behaviors. In re Marriage of Chandola, 180 Wn.2d

632, 642, 646, 327 P.3d 644 (2014). The Washington Supreme Court has ruled

Amended Opening Brief - Page 18 of 42

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts,
PLLC

505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201 that RCW 26.09.09.191(3) bars a trial court from limiting any provisions of the parenting plan unless the evidence shows that a parent's conduct may otherwise have an adverse effect on the child's best interests. *Chandola*, 180 Wn.2d at 642. The Washington Court of Appeals has similarly ruled that a finding under RCW 26.09.191(3) *must* be supported by substantial evidence that the parent's involvement or conduct <u>caused</u> the restricting factor. *In re Marriage of Watson*, 132 Wn.App. 222, 233, 130 P.3d 915 (2006). Restrictions of a parent's conduct can only be imposed pursuant to RCW 26.09.191(3), and cannot be entered as features of the parenting plan under RCW 26.09.187. *Chandola*, 180 Wn.2d at 645. By requiring trial courts to identify specific harms to the *child* before ordering parenting plan restrictions, RCW 26.09.191(3) prevents arbitrary imposition of the court's preferences.

Absent a finding of domestic violence, RCW 26.09.191(3) does not authorize a court to preclude or limit any provisions of the parenting plan based on domestic violence concerns, nor may a court require a parent to be evaluated or treated for domestic violence.

Because the trial court had no authority to require Mr. Flynn to be evaluated or treated for domestic violence, and because it did not order Mr. Flynn to be evaluated/treated for domestic violence; Mr. Flynn did not violate the plan when he declined to be treated for domestic violence.

Amended Opening Brief - Page 19 of 42

*Chandola*, 180 Wn.2d at 655.

Substance Abuse. The trial court made no findings that Mr. Flynn had problems with substance abuse pursuant to RCW 26.09.191(3), and, consistent with those findings, it did not order Mr. Flynn to be evaluated or treated for substance abuse. There is no language in the parenting plan that addresses or requires an evaluation or recommendations for substance abuse; therefore, Mr.

Flynn could not have violated a term that does not exist.

Based on its findings, the trial court had no authority to require Mr. Flynn to be evaluated or treated for substance abuse, and, appropriately, it did not order that Mr. Flynn be evaluated or treated for substance abuse; therefore, Mr. Flynn did not violate the trial court's orders when he declined to follow

ACT&T's inappropriate recommendations restricting his use of any substance.

Abusive Use of Conflict. The trial court did make findings pursuant to RCW 26.09.191(3) with respect to Mr. Flynn's abusive use of conflict, and it did order that Mr. Flynn be evaluated by ACT&T for anger management problems and that he comply with any recommendations based on that assessment. Specifically, the trial court ordered that:

"Father Patrick Flynn must: Be evaluated for anger management through ACT&T within 60 days entry of the Final Parenting Plan"; and "Father must comply with any treatment as recommended by the evaluation."

Mr. Flynn complied with the trial court's order and submitted to ACT&T's anger management evaluation. ACT&T found that Mr. Flynn did not have anger management issues, and it made no recommendations based on its anger

Amended Opening Brief - Page 20 of 42

management evaluation; therefore, Mr. Flynn was and continues to be in full compliance with the trial court's orders.

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