FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/31/2023 11:18 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102169-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

ALEXANDRA L. CARTWRIGHT,

Respondent,

and

PATRICK R. FLYNN,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

A. Why This Court Should Deny Review.

Petitioner seeks review of a Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion affirming an order holding him in contempt for failing to comply with the provisions of a parenting plan and providing a means to purge his contempt and reestablish a relationship with his daughter. The Court of Appeals accurately recited the relevant facts in its opinion in this case, which was considered after remand from *Marriage of Cartwright*, No. 82231-4-1, 2022 WL 1763679 (unpublished, May 31, 2022).

In his first appeal, petitioner appealed the denial of his motion to vacate the provisions of the parenting plan requiring him to comply with any treatment as recommended after an evaluation for anger management. As the Court of Appeals noted in its previous opinion, many of petitioner's challenges, which are resurrected in this second appeal after remand, were not properly preserved. 2022 WL 1763679, *6, n.7.

The Court of Appeals in its previous opinion also rejected petitioner's primary substantive argument, repeated after remand and in his petition for review, that he could not be ordered to comply with evaluation and treatment requirements that contain the words "domestic," or "violence." 2022 WL 1763679, *6, n.6.

Petitioner did not seek review of the Court of Appeals' previous opinion rejecting his challenges to the parenting plan, and he cannot raise these issues again now. Estate of Langeland v. Drown, 195 Wn. App. 74, 82, ¶16, 380 P.3d 573 (2016) ("the law of the case doctrine to preclude successive reviews of issues that a party raised, or could have raised, in an earlier appeal in the same case"), rev. denied, 187 Wn.2d 1010 (2017). Just as a motion to vacate is not a substitute for appeal, State ex rel. Green v. Superior Court for King Cnty., 58 Wn.2d 162, 164, 361 P.2d 643 (1961), this second appeal from a finding of contempt does not bring up the merits of the underlying

order. *Griffin v. Draper*, 32 Wn. App. 611, 614, 649 P.2d 123, rev. denied, 98 Wn.2d 1004 (1982).

Even if petitioner had challenged the trial court's authority to impose restrictions and conditions in the original parenting plan, his argument would still fail. A parent's "right to parental autonomy" is not infringed when a court imposes restrictions on a parent "to protect the child from physical, mental, or emotional harm." *Marriage of Chandola*, 180 Wn.2d 632, 647-48, ¶¶ 27, 30, 327 P.3d 644 (2014).

Further, petitioner's due process rights were not violated. He had been put on notice that he could lose residential time under the parenting plan if he failed to comply with the treatment recommendations when the parenting plan was first entered, and as the Court of Appeals' concluded, on remand petitioner was provided with all the procedural protections required before the trial court entered findings, supported by substantial evidence

and credibility determinations, justifying an order of contempt.

B. Conclusion and Request for Fees.

Petitioner has utterly failed to meet the criteria justifying acceptance of review in RAP 13.4(b). The Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion conflicts with no precedent governing enforcement of parenting plans in an order of contempt, and petitioner's largely unpreserved challenges to the parenting plan warrant no further consideration. This Court should deny review and award respondent her fees for having to respond to this petition under the contempt statute, RCW 26.09.160. *Marriage of Eklund*, 143 Wn. App. 207, 219, ¶ 29, 177 P.3d 189 (2008), citing *Marriage of Rideout*, 150 Wn.2d 337, 359, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003).

I certify that this answer is in 14-point Georgia font and contains 582 words, in compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.17(b).